IN THE MICHIGAN SUPREME COURT
APPEAL FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS
M. J. KELLY, P.J., and STEPHENS and O'BRIEN, JJ.

ESTATE OF MARY ANN HEGADORN, by
RALPH HEGADORN, Personal Representative
Plaintiff-Appellant,

SC: 156132
COA: 329508
Livingston CC: 2014-028394-AA

v

DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN SERVICES
DIRECTOR,
Defendant-Appellee

The appeal involves a ruling that a provision of the Constitution, a statute, rule or regulation, or other State governmental action is invalid.

ESTATE OF DOROTHY LOLLAR, by DEBORAH
D TRIM, Personal Representative
Plaintiff-Appellant,

SC:156133
COA: 329511
LivingstonCC: 2014-028395-AA

v

DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN SERVICES
DIRECTOR,
Defendant-Appellee

ROSELYN FORD,

STATEMENT OF BASIS FOR JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to MCR 7.303(B)(1). By Order dated March 7, 2018, this Court granted Appellants' Application for Leave to Appeal the Michigan Court of Appeals' Opinion issued on June 1, 2017, which was approved for publication on July 27, 2017.

STATEMENT OF QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. Does the statutory term “individual” as used in 42 USC 1396p(d)(3)(B) mean “the individual or the individual’s spouse”.**

The Administrative Law Judge in effect answered this question yes.

Circuit court's answer: No
Court of Appeal’s answer: Yes
Appellant's answer: No
Appellee's answer: Yes

- II. Whether the Court of Appeals clearly erred in holding that the trust assets of Ford’s spouse and decedent Lollar’s and Hegadorn’s spouses are “countable assets” for purposes of Medicaid eligibility.**

Administrative Law Judge’s answer: No
Circuit court's answer: Yes
Court of Appeal’s answer: No
Appellant's answer: Yes
Appellee's answer: No

- III. Whether the Department of Health and Human Services could base its decision on the retroactive application of a department policy adopted more than 45 days after the plaintiffs’ applications were filed**

Circuit court's answer: No
Court of Appeal’s answer: Yes
Appellant's answer: No
Appellee's answer: Yes

INTRODUCTION

This is a Medicaid eligibility case under Title XIX of the Social Security Act, Grants to States for Medical Assistance Programs. Title XIX is a federal aid program that allows participating states, through the use of federal funds, to furnish medical assistance.

OVERVIEW

A. Medicaid Qualification.

Congress established the Medicaid program in 1965 to provide federal and state funding of medical care for individuals who cannot afford to cover their own medical costs. See Social Security Amendments of 1965, Title XIX, Grants to States for Medical Assistance Programs, Pub L No 89–97, 79 Stat. 286, 343–52 (codified as amended at 42 USC 1396–1396w–5). The program is administered by the Secretary of Health and Human Services (HHS or the federal agency), who in turn exercises that authority through the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS). To implement the program, each participating State develops a plan containing reasonable standards for determining eligibility for and the extent of medical assistance within boundaries set by the Medicaid statute[s] and the Secretary of HHS. See *Hughes v McCarthy*, 734 F3d 473, 475 (CA 6 2013). Under the terminology used for this Medicaid program, a spouse residing in a nursing home is referred to as the “institutionalized spouse,” and the person who is living outside of the nursing home and is married to the “institutionalized spouse,” is referred to as the “community spouse”. See 42 USC 1396r-5(h)(1)(A) and 42 USC 1396r-5(h)(1)(B).

In 1988, Congress passed the Medicare Catastrophic Coverage Act (“MCCA”), Pub L No 100–360, 102 Stat. 683, which includes a set of intricate and interlocking requirements with which

States must comply in allocating a couple's income and resources. The MCCA allows the community spouse to retain, without additional restrictions, that portion of the couple's "resources" which is referred to as the Community Spouse Resource Allowance ("CSRA")¹, because the CSRA is deemed to be unavailable to the institutionalized spouse when calculating Medicaid eligibility, and therefore that amount of "countable resources" does not affect the institutionalized spouse's Medicaid eligibility. See 42 USC 1396r-5(c)(2) & (f)(2). Also, a community spouse's income is not considered available to the institutionalized spouse for eligibility purposes, except in limited circumstances. See 42 USC 1396r-5(b). Further, "after the month in which an institutionalized spouse is determined to be eligible for benefits ..., no resources of the community spouse shall be deemed available to the institutionalized spouse." 42 USC 1396r-5(c)(4).

After calculation of the CSRA, if the couple still has countable resources in excess of the amount permitted for that individual under the Medicaid system, the couple can "spend down" their additional remaining countable resources in order to reduce their total remaining countable resources to a level that will allow the institutionalized spouse to qualify. But, the couple is not permitted to simply "give away" their "excess" countable resources in a manner not specifically permitted by the Medicaid statutory system, because if they do that, a "divestment penalty" could be imposed on the institutionalized spouse. That is, "if an institutionalized individual or the spouse of such an individual ... disposes of assets for less than fair market value on or after the look-back date" (which, as relevant here, is defined as sixty months prior to the first date on which the institutionalized spouse applies for Medicaid assistance), "the individual is ineligible for medical assistance for

¹ Referred to in Michigan as the "protected spousal amount"; see Michigan Department of Health and Human Services, Bridges Eligibility Manual ("BEM") 402, See Appx 343a.

services” (such as coverage for nursing home costs) for the number of months that the assets would have covered the average monthly cost of such services. See 42 USC 1396p(c)(1) and the subdivisions thereunder. However, these transfer penalties do not apply to certain transfers which are permitted under the federal Medicaid system to accomplish that reduction. For example, a married couple could:

- Spend the countable resources on goods and services the nursing home spouse or community spouse needs, provided that the price/fee paid is at fair market value. See BEM 405, Appx 362a.
- Convert the countable resources to excluded resources by purchasing a home, car, funeral plan, burial space, and certain life insurance policies. See BEM 405, Appx 365a-366a.
- Loan countable resources to someone so long as the loan is repaid in equal installments over the Medicaid applicant's or the community spouse's lifetime. See BEM 400 Appx 295a-296a.
- File a petition in probate court requesting that the court increase the Community Spouse Resource Allowance so that the community spouse can keep more or all of the countable resources. See BEM 402, Appx 352a.
- Give countable resources to a blind or disabled child, regardless of the child's age. See BEM 405, Appx 365a.
- Transfer countable resources to a trust established solely for the benefit of a blind or disabled child. See BEM 405, Appx 365a.
- Transfer countable resources to a trust established solely for the benefit of a disabled person under the age of 65 (even if the person is a complete stranger). See BEM 405, Appx 366a.
- Convert countable resources to an income stream for the community spouse by obtaining a Medicaid compliant annuity, that does not extend beyond the community spouse's life expectancy. See BEM 401, Appx 329a.
- Transfer countable resources to a trust solely for the benefit ("SBO") of the community spouse, provided that the trust provides for distributions of the principal and income of the trust to the community spouse over a period time which does not extend beyond the community spouse's life expectancy. See BEM 405, Appx 365a, 367a-368a.

Of particular relevance here: “An individual shall not be ineligible for medical assistance by reason of paragraph (1) to the extent that ... (B) the assets . . . (i) were transferred to the individual's spouse

or to another for the sole benefit of the individual's spouse[.]” See 42 USC 1396p(c)(2)(B)(I). Similarly, a separate provision states that an annuity is not treated as an available resource for purposes of Medicaid eligibility if the annuity meets certain requirements. See 42 USC 1396p(c)(1)(G). Congress later passed the Deficit Reduction Act of 2005 (DRA), Pub.L. No. 109–171, 120 Stat. 4, 62–64, as amended by the Tax Relief and Health Care Act of 2006, Pub.L. No. 109–432, 120 Stat. 2922, 2998, which added provisions to 42 USC 1396p(c)(1) concerning whether the purchase of certain annuities should be deemed transfers for less than fair market value. See 42 USC 1396p(c)(1)(F), (G). Congress did not, however, amend 42 USC 1396p(c)(2)(B) with the DRA's enactment, which pertains to transfers to sole benefit trusts.

As outlined in more detail under part II of this brief, the term "assets", with respect to an individual, includes all income and *resources* of the individual and of the individual's spouse. 42 USC 1396p(h)(1). However, when administering the Medicaid plan, the state may consider (“count”) **only** such income and assets as are “available” to the applicant, as determined by the federal rules. *Geston v Olson*, 857 FSupp2d 863, 874 (DND 2012); and *Wisconsin Dept of Health and Family Services v. Blumer*, 534 US 473, at 495; 122 Sct 962 (2002). That is, in order for a “resource” to be countable, it must be “available”. **As a general rule, a property right of any kind is not a resource if the individual (or spouse) does not have “the legal right, authority, or power to liquidate” that property right.** See 20 CFR 416.1201(a)(1); (emphasis added). In the case of property held in a trust, this rule is modified as to the “individual” Medicaid **applicant** by 42 USC 1396p(d)(3)(B), but not as to the “individual’s spouse,” because the “individual’s spouse” is not included under that rule (this issue is discussed in detail in Part III of this brief).

The determination of the amount of countable resources for an initial eligibility determination

is made “as of the time of application for benefits”. 42 USC 1396r–5(c)(2).

B. "Solely for the Benefit of" Trusts.

As outlined above, there are a number of options available under federal Medicaid statutory law and regulations, as well as Michigan's Medicaid policy, for the married couple to “spend down” assets to allow the institutionalized spouse to qualify for Medicaid assistance. One of these options is to transfer the assets to a trust which qualifies as a the trust solely for the benefit of ("SBO") the community spouse under the federal requirements, because such a transfer does not subject the couple to a divestment penalty. See 42 USC 1396p(c)(2)(B).² Transfers to such a trust may be made by the individual applicant or the individual’s spouse. *Id.*

For nearly twenty years, the Department of Health and Human Service’s policy has considered property held under properly drafted and structured SBO Trusts for community spouses as non-countable for purposes of determining the Medicaid eligibility of the nursing home spouses. The memo issued by the Department’s Office of Legal Services/Trust and Annuities Unit on March 26, 2014 which analyzes the Herbert Ford Irrevocable Trust, is an example of the analysis used by the Department when evaluating Sole Benefit Trusts of this type before August of 2014. See Appx 226a. As stated in that memo, some of the terms of the trust which allow the trust to qualify as a Solely for the Benefit of Trust (“Sole Benefit Trust” as used in this brief) include the following:

- The community spouse (Herbert Ford) is the only person entitled to distributions from the trust,
- Trust distributions must be made “on an actuarially sound basis” per the Department’s life expectancy table,

² The corresponding Michigan Bridges Eligibility Manual item is BEM 405, pp 9, 11-12, See Appx 365a, 367a-368a.

- The trust is irrevocable,
- The trust does not allow distributions to be made during the month of application,³ and
- “There is no condition under which the principal or income could be paid to or on behalf of Roselyn” (the institutionalized spouse).

Therefore, as stated in that memo, “the trust principal and income (none at this time) are non-countable for purposes of determining Roselyn's eligibility”. See Appx 226a.

However, after the applications had been filed in all of these cases, and without any advance public notice, Terrence M. Beurer, director for the Department’s Field Operations Administration, issued a memorandum on August 20, 2014 stating that "all SBO trust assets are deemed countable pursuant to BEM 401, page 11." See Appx 228a. At the time of the Department’s announcement, there had been no change in the federal law or regulations, or the written Department’s policies contained in the BEMs governing Medicaid applications. What changed was only the Department’s longstanding interpretation of the BEM 401 in relation to spousal SBO trusts. At that point, the Department decided to interpret the term “person” as used in BEM 401, page 11 to include not only the Medicaid applicant but also the Medicaid applicant’s spouse. See Appx 226a. Note that the corresponding term as used in the federal statute is “individual”.⁴ As a result, SBO trust resources, which had been treated as noncountable assets when such an SBO trust did not permit distributions from the trust to the community spouse beneficiary at the time the Medicaid

³ Even if the trust permitted a distribution to the community spouse during the month of application, that fact alone would not cause the assets of the trust to be a countable resource to the community spouse, because the Department’s BEM 401, page 13 states that distributions from a trust such as this are counted as income (in the month received), and under the federal statutes, the community spouse’s income is not countable to the institutionalized spouse.

⁴ The federal statute is 42 USC 1396p(d)(3)(B) which is discussed in detail in part III of this brief.

application was filed (and also when there was no condition under which the principal or income of the trust could be paid to or on behalf of the Medicaid applicant), were now treated as countable resources when the Department evaluated an applicant's eligibility for Medicaid. The Department's justification for this change is the Department's claim that the term "person" as used in BEM 401 means any generic "person". Ms. Schrauben, who serves as the Departmental specialist, Office of Legal Services, for the Department, testified in all three cases that prior to August 13, 2014, that the assets of a Sole Benefit Trust such as these were non-countable at the time of application. See Appx 94a, 58a, 59a, and 156a.

C. Processing Medicaid Applications.

Federal Medicaid law requires that applications be processed with "reasonable promptness." See 42 USC 1396a(a)(8) (requiring state plans to "provide that all individuals wishing to make application for medical assistance under the plan shall have opportunity to do so, and that such assistance shall be furnished with reasonable promptness to all eligible individuals"). Under the federal rules applicable to the Medicaid Act, applications must be processed and eligibility determined within 45 days. 42 CFR 435.911(a)(2). Thus, as a matter of federal law, Medicaid administrators are required to make eligibility determinations within 45 days of receiving an application. See 42 CFR 435.911(b). In other words, applications for Medicaid are required to be processed "without delay." 42 CFR 435.906. As required by federal law and regulations governing Medicaid applications, the Department previously adopted Bridges Administrative Manual ("BAM") item 115, which at page 15 states that the Department had 45 days to render a decision, which in the Ford case was until March 17, 2014. See Appx 257a. However, in the Ford case, no qualification

determination was made until September 29, 2014. See Appx 164a

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEEDINGS

These cases involve three married individuals who applied for Medical Assistance (Medicaid) to assist with the payment of nursing home costs under the federal Medicaid system commonly referred to as “Title XIX”: Dorothy Lollar, Mary Ann Hegadorn, and Roselyn Ford. Title XIX is a federal aid program that allows participating states, through the use of federal funds, to furnish medical assistance. The Department⁵ denied all three individuals’ applications for Medicaid benefits because the Department counted as “available,” assets that were placed into a trust “Solely for the Benefit of” the Medicaid applicant’s spouse, even though no distributions from each trust could be made to the spouse beneficiary at the time the applications were filed (and no distributions could ever be made from the trust to or for the benefit of the Medicaid applicant). These cases were consolidated before the Court of Appeals. The facts recited by the *Hegadorn et al* opinion are largely undisputed.

Lollar Background

Dorothy Lollar, began receiving care at the MediLodge Nursing home in Howell, Michigan on or about May 1, 2014. See Appx 116a. She was married to Dallas Lollar. The protected spousal amount calculated by the Department for Mr. Lollar was \$31,267.31. See Appx 117a. Although the Medicaid statutes permitted the community spouse to retain up \$117,240 of countable assets for a

⁵In this Application, the Defendant-Appellee, Maura D. Corrigan, Director of the Michigan Department of Health and Human Services, is referred to as the “Department”.

2014 Medicaid application such as this one, Mr. Lollar's protected spousal amount was \$85,000 less than that maximum because the total value of the Lollar's combined countable assets as of May 1, 2014, was only \$62,534.62 as determined by the Department. See Appx 117a. The Medicaid application for the Appellant, **Mrs.** Dorothy Lollar, was submitted on July 31, 2014, and a "Retroactive" Medicaid application for June 2014 was submitted at that time as well. Prior to the submission of this application, **Mr.** Dallas Lollar established the *Dallas H. Lollar Irrevocable Trust* on June 19, 2014 [See Appx 216a-225a], which qualifies as a "Sole Benefit Trust" or "Solely for the Benefit Of" (SBO) Trust for **Mr.** Dallas Lollar, because he is the "sole beneficiary" of that trust and the assets in the Trust must be distributed only to him and within his lifetime. See Appx 116a⁶ The Trust specifically provides that there was no circumstance that permitted any trust payment to be disbursed to **Mr.** Lollar while **Mrs.** Lollar's application and retroactive application were being processed. See Appx 218a. Regarding payments from the Trust, paragraph 2.2 provides:

2.2 *Distribution of resources.* During each fiscal year of the Trust, Trustee shall from time to time during the fiscal year pay or distribute to me, or for my sole benefit, during my lifetime such part or all of the net income and principal ("Resources") of the Trust as Trustee determines is necessary to distribute the resources in an actuarially sound basis; provided, however, during the first fiscal year of the Trust, the distribution shall not be made to me until after such time as Medicaid eligibility has been determined for my spouse, but in no event later than May 31, 2015. In determining an actuarially sound basis for distribution, Trustee shall use the life expectancy table attached as Exhibit A, to determine the appropriate minimum portion of Resources to be distributed in any fiscal year. During my lifetime, no Resources of the Trust can be used for anyone other than me, except for Trustee fees. Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, Trustee shall distribute the Resources of the Trust at a rate that is calculated to use up all of the Resources during my lifetime. The Resources of the Trust shall be valued on the first

⁶ At one point in the ALJ decision, the ALJ mistakenly refers to Mr. Lollar's trust as a "revocable trust". However, the ALJ later correctly refers to that trust as an "irrevocable trust" (see Appx 122a).

day of June 1st of each fiscal year of the Trust, except that in the first fiscal year, the Resources of the Trust shall be valued as of the date of their contribution to the Trust.

See Appx 218a.

The value of assets held under the Sole Benefit Trust when the application was filed on July 31, 2014 (and also June 31, 2014), amounted to \$19,998.48. See Appx 255a. When the application was processed, the Department determined the total value of countable assets held by either Mr. or Mrs. Lollar as of the date of the application was filed came to \$35,822.29, including the value of the assets held under the Sole Benefit Trust as of that time (\$19,998.48).⁷ In other words, the combined total of their **countable assets** would come to \$15,823.81 if the assets held under the Sole Benefit Trust are not counted ($\$35,822.29 - \$19,998.48 = \$15,823.81$), which is much less than the protected spousal amount calculated by the Department for Mr. Lollar of \$31,267.31. See Appx 81a.

The Department determined that Mrs. Dorothy Lollar did not qualify for Medical Assistance, because it counted the assets held under the Sole Benefit Trust based on its “new interpretation” of the provisions of BEM 401. See Appx 76a and 94a.

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