STATE OF MICHIGAN IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal from the Michigan Court of Appeals Michael J. Kelly, Cynthia Diane Stephens, and Colleen A. O'Brien

RALPH HEGADORN, AS PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF MARY HEGADORN,

Supreme Court No. 156132

Court of Appeals No. 329508

Plaintiff-Appellant,

Livingston Circuit Court No. 2014-028394-AA

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES,

The appeal involves a ruling that a State governmental action is invalid.

Defendant-Appellee.

ESTATE OF DOROTHY LOLLAR, BY DEBORAH D. TRIM, PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE,

Supreme Court No. 156133

Plaintiff-Appellant,

Court of Appeals No. 329511

v

Livingston Circuit Court No. 2014-028395-AA

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

b. These trusts are also countable under 42 USC 1396p.

The provisions of 42 USC 1396p(d) in the Medicaid Act also apply to these claimants' Trusts. 42 USC 1396a(a)(18) (requiring state plans to comply with § 1396p). Section 1396p(d)(1), like § 1382b(e)(1), provides the special treatment for special needs trusts, but those are not at issue here. And again, § 1396p(d)(2), like § 1382b(e)(2)(A), gives the general instructions for *all other* trusts that are owned or beneficial (equitable ownership) to *any* individual whose assets, including trust

assets, must be evaluated and counted for a Medicaid application. For long-term care, the institutionalized spouse and the community spouse are each "an individual" whose assets, including trust assets, must be reviewed and counted for the eligibility determination of the institutionalized spouse under 42 USC 1396r-5(a). Thus, the assets and resources of both individuals, the institutionalized spouse and the community spouse, must be counted.

42 USC 1396p(d)(2) provides that "an individual shall be considered to have established a trust if assets of the individual were used to form all or part of the corpus of the trust and if any of the following individuals established such trust other than by will: (i) The individual; (ii) The individual's spouse." In these consolidated cases, under this section *either* the institutionalized spouses or the community spouses may be considered an individual who has established a trust. And § 1396p(h)(1) confirms that both spouses' assets count:

The term "assets," with respect to an individual, includes all income and resources of the individual and of the individual's spouse, including any income or resources which the individual or such individual's spouse is entitled to but does not receive because of action by the individual or such individual's spouse. [§ 1396p(h)(1)(A) (emphasis added).]

The term "resources" in § 1396p is defined by reference to its meaning in § 1382b (SSI Standards) and so means the countable assets after excluded assets are removed from the total. 42 USC 1396p(h)(5). (Excludable assets are not an issue in these cases, because even setting excludable assets aside, each couple still have excess countable assets.)

As in 42 USC 1382b(e)(2)(C), the provisions of 42 USC 1396p(d) apply without regard to any restrictions or limits on distributions from the Trusts. 42 USC 1396p(d)(2)(C). Nevertheless, the claimants assert that the assets in the Trusts are unavailable because, "[n]o distributions from each trust could be made to the spouse beneficiary at the time the applications were filed." (Claimants' Br, p 8.)

This is simply incorrect. The Hegadorn Trust never had any limitations on timing of distributions, and the entire trust corpus could have been distributed to the beneficiary at any time. The assets in the Hegadorn Trust were always countable. And although the Ford Trust had a delayed initial distribution date, that expired well before the eligibility was determined, and the application date does *not* end the scrutiny of assets.

To create this fiction that the money in the Lollar and Ford Trusts was not available to them, the claimants delayed the initial distribution date out from the application date to a date they anticipated would be beyond the eligibility determination date. So, although a community spouse's assets are not counted again *after* an eligibility determination, 42 USC 1396r-5(d)(c)(2), until that occurred all assets are still under review for eligibility. And since the statute states that its provisions apply *without regard* to any restrictions on when or whether distributions can be made from the Trusts, this attempt to make assets unavailable

¹ If the Claimants had successfully made payments from the Trusts not payable to either spouse under any circumstance, all Trust assets would have been divestments for which divestment penalties must be served. 42 USC 1396p(d)(3)(B)(ii).

was not successful for any of the Trusts. 42 USC 1382b(e)(2)(C); 42 USC 1396p(d)(2)(C).

For § 1396p(d), *an* individual is considered to have established a trust if assets of that individual or of that individual's spouse were put into a trust. 42 USC 1396p(d)(2)(A). And for an individual who has established a trust,

if there are any circumstances under which payment from the trust could be made to or for the benefit of the individual, the portion of the corpus from which . . . payment to the individual could be made shall be considered resources available to the individual. [§ 1396p(d)(3)(B).]

In these cases, we know that the community spouses (or their spouses) funded the Trusts and they are the beneficiaries of the Trusts and that by the terms of those Trusts, they are the individuals who *must* receive distributions in a manner calculated to distribute all assets to them within their life expectancy. (Appellants' Appendix, pp 192a-193a; pp 203a-204a; pp 216a-218a.)

Because there are circumstances in which they will receive payment from trust assets—indeed, that is the entire point of these Sole-Benefit-Of trusts—the trust assets are their resources (and therefore their assets). 42 USC 1396r-5(a); 42 USC 1396p(h)(1)(A). And since the assets of both spouses are counted for the eligibility determination of the institutionalized spouse, in each case these couples have too many assets to qualify for long-term care. 42 USC 1396r-5(d).

3. The statute uses the term "an individual" to apply broadly and uses narrower terms where it intends a restrictive meaning.

The claimants attempt to evade the provisions of the Treatment of Trusts in § 1396p by attempting to limit the application of the broad term "an individual" to

apply *only* to the applicant—that is, only to the institutionalized individual.

(Appellant Br, § III.) This would exclude all evaluation of trust assets for any other individual including the community spouse. But this approach conflicts with the plain language of multiple provisions and would defeat the statutory purpose of determining who is truly needy. In this case, the assets of both individuals, the institutionalized spouse *and* the community spouse, count.

From the beginning of the Medicaid program, the assets of *both* spouses were counted for the eligibility of either spouse because "Congress intended to presume spousal support." *Gray Panthers*, 453 US at 44; *Blumer* 534 US at 479 ("spouses . . . bear financial responsibility for each other."); 42 USC 1396a(a)(17)(D). Section 1396r-5, under which these claimants seek benefits, requires the Department to use "the total of all of the couple's resources (whether owned jointly or separately)" in making the calculations in the statute. 42 USC 1396r-5(c)(1)(A). Yet, these claimants ask this Court to limit the plain language Congress used in the statute to make this evaluation impossible.

Section 1396p, as well as all the other statutes in the Medicaid Act and the SSI program, use the generic term "individual" and at times, the "individual's spouse." Section 1396p(h)(3) defines the term "institutionalized spouse," and where Congress intended to refer only to the institutionalized spouse, it did that.

Indeed, throughout the statute, when Congress intends to refer specifically to the applicant, a benefits recipient, or another identifiable person other than any "individual," it uses clear and specific language. For example, the first provision of the statute refers to "any individual prior to his death on account of medical assistance paid or to be paid on his behalf." 42 USC 1396p(a)(1). This individual's circumstances are specifically identified and do not apply to an "applicant" or "institutionalized individual" only. Limiting the word "individual" to mean only "applicant" changes the meaning of the statute. And that is just the first line.

"Undefined statutory terms must be given their plain and ordinary meanings." *Halloran v Bhan*, 470 Mich 572, 578 (2004); *Donajkowski v Alpena Power Co*, 460 Mich 243, 248-249 (1999); *Koontz v Ameritech Services*, *Inc*, 466 Mich 304, 312 (2002). The common usage of "an individual" is *not* an applicant for Medicaid benefits or an institutionalized individual—it is *any* individual, or *any* person. And, "[a] person's a person, no matter how small." Dr. Seuss, *Horton Meets a Who* (New York: Random House, 1954).

"Nothing will be read into a clear statute that is not within the manifest intention of the Legislature as derived from the language of the statute itself." *Roberts*, 466 Mich at 63. This includes changing the meaning of the word "individual" in this statute to effectively eliminate trust review for many who need that trust review to qualify others.

The claimants' proposed interpretation would render Congress's intricate and interrelated plans for calculating resources of both spouses in provisions of 42 USC 1396r-5 (the MCCA spousal-impoverishment provisions) superfluous and unnecessary—anyone with assets would simply put them in a trust, and according to the claimants' interpretation, those assets would just disappear. Congress's

plans to appropriately allocate Medicaid benefits only to the needy individuals would be meaningless.

The United States Supreme Court has said, "we are hesitant to adopt an interpretation of a congressional enactment which renders superfluous another portion of that same law." *Marx v Gen Revenue Corp*, 568 US 371, 386 (2013), quoting *Mackey v Lanier Collection Agency & Service, Inc*, 486 US 825, 837 (1988), but that is what the claimants' interpretation would do to the Medicaid Act.

Congress deliberately stiffened the requirements on trust assets to make them countable. It strains credulity to suggest that Congress would require the assets of both spouses to be counted and then would write the statute to make that impossible. Congress did not intend to allow couples to put any amount (even millions of dollars) in a trust that would not be considered for eligibility.

4. The Social Security Administration reads the statutes the way the Department does.

Michigan is one of 34 states that has an agreement with the Social Security Administration in which individuals who receive Supplemental Security Income receive Medicaid automatically. https://secure.ssa.gov/poms.nsf/lnx/0501715020. SSI qualified individuals are categorically eligible and so do not need to apply separately for Medicaid benefits. The Administration has these agreements only with states that use SSI methodology to determine Medicaid eligibility. 42 USC 1383c; POMS SI 01715.020.

The Social Security Administration publishes the Program Operating Manual System (POMS) as guidance for Social Security and SSI claims. Wash State Dep't of Soc & Health Servs v Guardianship Estate of Keffeler, 537 US 371, 385 (2003). "While not the product of formal rulemaking, the POMS provide guidance to the courts and warrant respect." Id. See Mackey v Dep't of Human Serv, 289 Mich App 688, 703 (2010); Bubnis v Apfel, 150 F3d 177, 181 (CA 2, 1998) ("We have held that POMS guidelines are entitled to 'substantial deference' and will not be disturbed as long as they are reasonable and consistent with the statute."). Courts generally decline to use the POMS as reliable guidance only where "the plain language of the statute and its implementing regulation do not permit the construction contained within the manuals." Oteze Fowlkes v Adamec, 432 F3d 90, 96 (CA 2, 2005).

Because the POMS are the written policy for SSI determinations, and as a State with an agreement with the Social Security Administration, Michigan uses the *same* policy for Medicaid eligibility; the POMS are an accurate guide for that policy. And in the case of trust policy, POMS offer clear and comprehensible explanations. The applicable POMS states that trusts that may make payments to the spouse are countable:

POMS SI 01120.201 Trusts Established with the Assets of an Individual on or after 01/01/00

- D. Policy on the treatment of trusts
- 2. Irrevocable trusts

a. General rule for irrevocable trusts

In determining whether an irrevocable trust established with the assets of an individual is a resource, we must consider how the trust

can make payments. If the trustee can make any payments to or for the benefit of the individual *or individual's spouse*, the portion of the trust from which the trustee can make payments and that is attributable to the individual is a resource. (Emphasis provided.)

b. Circumstances under which payment can or cannot be made

Take into consideration any restrictions on payments to determine whether the trustee can make payments to or for the benefit of the individual. Restrictions included in the trust may include use restrictions, exculpatory clauses, or limits on the trustee's discretion. However, if the trust can make a payment to or for the benefit of the individual under **any** circumstance, no matter how unlikely or distant in the future, the general rule in SI 01120.201D.2.a. in this section applies: the portion of the trust from which payment can be made to or for the benefit of the individual and that is attributable to the individual is a resource. (Emphasis in the original.)

In fact, the federal guidance provides an example that shows if there is any possibility (no matter how unlikely) that the spouse could get money from the trust, then the trust assets must be counted:

A trust contains \$50,000 that the trustee can pay to the beneficiary only in the event that he or she needs a heart transplant or on his or her 100th birthday. The entire \$50,000 could be paid to the individual under these specific circumstances and therefore is considered a resource. [POMS SI 01120.201D c. (explaining "irrevocable trusts and their resource treatment").]

As these policy statements show, SSI policy standards for long-term care regard all the assets in the claimants' Trusts as countable for Medicaid eligibility.

Because individuals with assets had attempted to use trusts to shield those assets and still obtain benefits, Congress established the trust rules that (except for special needs trusts, which are not at issue here) trust assets *would be counted* as assets for the purpose of determining Medicaid eligibility." *Lewis*, 685 F3d at 332; (emphasis added). In short, the plain text of § 1382b(e) and § 1396p(d), in

combination with § 1396r-5 calculations for medically needy individuals with community spouses, makes clear that assets in these claimants' Trusts are countable and each of the couples had too many assets for the institutionalized spouses to qualify for benefits.

The Department requests that this Honorable Court affirm the opinion of the Michigan Court of Appeals.

II. The Department was obligated to immediately correct its trust evaluation process when it discovered that it conflicted with federal law, regulation, and policy and its own BEMs policy.

The claimants also argue that (1) that the Department changed its policy when it deemed all Sole-Benefit-Of trusts to be countable and (2) that even if this change was legally permissible, it could not be applied retroactively to them. They are wrong on both points. (Appellant Br, § IV.)

States that choose to participate in Medicaid and receive federal funding for their programs "must comply with federal requirements." *Rasmer*, 501 Mich at 25, quoting *Schweiker v Gray Panthers*, 453 US 34, 36 (1981). As just explained, federal law requires counting Sole-Benefit-Of trusts, and always has. When the Department discovered its error (namely, that one of its policies had been overlooked for a period of time), it could not deliberately continue to grant benefits in conflict with the law to applicants who did not qualify for them.

A. The Department must apply correct law and policy when it issues eligibility determinations.

No law or regulation or even the Department's own written policy (found in the Bridges Eligibility Manuals) had a change. Thus, there was no start date related to a change. If the Department finds that its policy is not in accord with federal law, it can change those policies and the timing of such changes are within that authority. In re Kurzyniec Estate, 207 Mich App 531, 538-39 (1994); Tompkins v Dep't of Social Services, 97 Mich App 218 (1980). That is what the Department would have done if its policy had been incompatible with federal law. And it would have the authority to set the time for the change. Id.

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